1979

Ivan Jenkins v. Holy Cross Hospital of Salt Lake City, Charles M. Parrish, F. Clyde Null, Robert M. Stovall, A. Thompson, Xyz Manufacturing Company and Abc Distributing Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for medical malpractice brought by the plaintiff, Ivan Jenkins, against the defendant, Dr. Charles M. Parrish, a specialist in the field of open-heart surgery, for injuries sustained during the course of open-heart surgery from which the plaintiff suffered severe brain damage and blindness, and which occurred as a result of the defendant's failure to supply an adequate blood supply to the Plaintiff during the open-heart surgery.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was brought on a theory of negligence and was tried before a jury. The trial court submitted the issues of liability and damages to the jury. Upon the evidence the appellant was allowed to present, and upon the instructions of the court, the jury found that the defendant was not negligent. The appellant's motions for a directed verdict and new trial were denied.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the decision in the trial court below and an order remanding the case for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Error Committed in Selection of Jury. During the course of the voir dire examination in open court, one of the jurors, Judith Eddins, volunteered that her ex-husband was a veterinarian and her father was an M.D. (Medical Doctor) (R. 684). The venireman further volunteered "The fact that my father was an M.D. would influence me." (R. 689.) Counsel for appellant specifically challenged this juror for cause. (R. 690.) Appellant's counsel then requested that the court conduct a further hearing of the matter in chambers so as to not belabor the matter of bias and prejudice before the entire jury panel. (R. 691.) The court then held a hearing in chambers in which questions were asked of the venireman Judith Eddins which established that:

1. She would be somewhat partial to the doctor.
  2. She would feel that the defendant medical doctor's testimony would be "more likely to be truthful than untruthful."
  3. She would give more weight to his testimony simply because he's a doctor. (R. 699-702, see Appendix "A".)
- Thereupon the in camera proceeding was concluded and after a few additional questions by the court, plaintiff's counsel renewed their challenge for cause of venireman Eddins which the court denied. (R. 699.) Whereupon the plaintiff's counsel removed venireman Eddins by exercising peremptorial challenge (Plaintiff's number 3, R. 369).

B. Errors Committed During Trial. The appellant in February of 1972 was a 46-year-old man who had been employed as a rigger for Kennecott Copper Corporation. The appellant had

been having difficulty with heart problems, but previously had no difficulty with vision, equilibrium, coordination, memory, personality change or speech until he had open heart surgery on February 21, 1972, by the respondent, Dr. Charles M. Parrish, a thoracic and cardiovascular surgeon. Appellant first was seen by the respondent doctor in the early part of February 1972. Thereafter, certain tests were administered to the appellant, and the respondent doctor advised the appellant to have open heart surgery for a triple by-pass graft of veins upon the heart. The operation was a success as far as intended to correct the heart difficulties. No claim is made concerning the heart repair itself.

Appellant makes claim for injuries that occurred due to improper perfusion (supplying inadequate pressures and amounts of oxygenated blood to vital organs, specifically, the brain and eyes) during the surgery upon the heart. The injuries claimed were partial blindness, certain loss of coordination and impairment of equilibrium, memory loss, personality changes and slowness of speech. Appellant's doctors, Dr. Charles Bailey, a cardiovascular surgeon, Dr. William Hoyt, a neuro-ophthalmologist, and Dr. Ward Woods, a neurologist, all testified that these injuries had occurred during and as a result of the perfusion inadequacy during the open heart surgical procedure. (R. 1362, Appendix B, 891.) The appellant, his wife, family and friends all verify that the appellant complained of these problems immediately after the surgery at various times during the recuperative period.

(R. 1271-1280, 794-803, 807-813, 1253-1255.) Dr. Parrish's hospital record and his office record do not record any problem, as though it didn't exist, until six weeks after the surgery when he referred in an office note to Post Pump visual problems. (R. 852-859, Exhibit 2P.) Dr. Parrish admitted that coordinated visual problems appearing immediately after surgery would be significant and he would stop doing surgery until the problem was found. (R. 851-3, 2037.) But, he made no such investigation. (R. 857-9, 871, 888.

At the trial, Dr. Parrish, the defendant and respondent, testified concerning the surgery he performed and the manner in which it was carried out.

Certain procedures designed to insure adequate flow from the heart lung pump were omitted, and certain other procedures fell below the standard of acceptable minimal care exercised by experts in the same field in cities of comparable size, and throughout the medical profession according to Dr. Charles Bailey, a noted cardiovascular surgeon. Dr. Bailey was professor and director of the department of thoracic surgery at Hahneman Medical College from 1952 until 1959 and chairman of the department of surgery at New York Medical College from 1959 to 1962, then an instructor of cardiovascular surgery from 1962 until 1974. (R. 1309.) Dr. Bailey has written over 200 medical articles, almost all of them on thoracic surgery and heart surgery; he has written three medical books and contributed to several other books. (R. 1313-1314.) He has an honorary Doctor of Human Letters from Rutgers University and an honorary Doctor of Law from Hahneman Medical College, and was part of a team which received the American Medical Association's gold medal award for presentations on heart surgery in 1951 and in 1971. He belongs to a multitude of medical societies, including honorary membership.

in Portugal, Brazil, Mexico and has lectured and demonstrated all over the United States, was president of the International College of Surgeons and a member of every major national thoracic surgery society in the United States. (R. 1314-1316.) He was one of the pioneers in by-pass graft vascularization procedures. (R. 1318.) Dr. Bailey testified of countless contacts with physicians from all over the United States at the national meetings of the various societies and organizations to which he has belonged.

Both Dr. Bailey and the defendant Parrish were trained in thoracic surgery in New York City. (R. 836.) Dr. Parrish's testimony was to the effect that when Mr. Jenkins went on the pump, the blood pressure started at a level of 30-35 and then slowly rose during the procedure. (R. 1013-1015.) Neither he nor his technician actually recorded what the blood pressures had been during the pump run. (R. 972.) In the years before Mr. Jenkins' operation, Dr. Parrish had followed procedures to determine exactly how much blood went into the patient, that is, the perfusion flow rate during the pump run. (R. 877, 961, 1017.) The doctor originally calculated the necessary flow rate before surgery in order to provide an adequate amount of oxygen to the tissue (R. 877-78), measured the brain function with an electroencephelogram (R. 1017), and monitored the blood temperature at the pump (R. 1018), and measured the oxygen in the blood (R. 1018-20), but discontinued all of these precautions. Dr. Parrish's pump technician kept the information concerning flow rates on a specific form (Exhibit 6P, R. 887). At the trial, the flow rate of 1,000 cc's per minute recorded by the technician was disclaimed by Dr. Parrish as an "obviously incorrect flow rate." (R. 888-89.) The trial court refused to require Dr. Parrish to answer the question as to whether or not, if the pump technician actually felt that 1,000 cc's was an adequate

flow rate, then that pump technician was improperly trained. (R. 888-89.) Dr. Parrish excused this technical error by stating that he relied on the patient's blood pressure rather than following the flow rate (R. 888-89), even though he admitted there were instances where the flow rate could change but blood pressure would remain constant (R. 962), such as when drugs are given that cause vasodilation, which leads to pooling of blood in the veins. (R. 962.)

During the course of the trial, the appellant's counsel called Dr. Parrish's pump technician, Diane Nelson, who worked under the direction of the respondent surgeon, as to practices she employed while operating the heart-lung by-pass machine during course of the surgery.

Dr. Parrish's pump technician was merely trained to put the blood back into the body which came out. (R. 893, 1043.) However, if there is pooling of the blood in the veins, then it wouldn't return to the pump from the body and, therefore, the flow rate would go down. R. 905. Dr. Parrish used large amounts of morphine, which is a venous vasodilator, according to the testimony of Dr. Bailey; but Dr. Parrish didn't know whether it was a vasodilator or not (R. 905-06), and it is, therefore, reasonable to conclude that Dr. Parrish would be unaware of this effect causing a reduction of flow rates.

The plaintiff's evidence at trial was to the effect that according to the standard of care of capable, competent thoracic heart surgeons in similar localities, it was a departure from the standard of care to merely assure that the blood which came from the pump was pumped back into the patient and it was a departure from the standard of care to let the blood pressure drop down to the 30-35 range. According to the testimony of Dr. Charles Bailey, more precautions were required by the general community of thoracic

surgeons who practiced in similar localities. Dr. Bailey testified that it was incumbent upon the operating surgeon and his pump technician to:

1. Maintain a blood pressure above fifty millimeters of mercury during the time the heart-lung machine provides the blood flow and pressure, especially when the patient has a pre-operative blood pressure of 120 over 80, and a mean pressure of about 95 to 100. R. 1347-1349.

Although Dr. Parrish permitted the blood pressure to hover as low as 30, brain damage occurs when the mean pressure is allowed to be below 50 for any significant period of time. (R. 1848.)

2. Calibrate the blood flow going into the patient through the heart-lung pump and to maintain a minimum standard of flow to keep the brain and tissues alive.

Dr. Parrish's agent and pump technician kept a record of flows on a pump infusion record. She did not calibrate the machine, and the numbers recorded were so low that a human of Mr. Jenkin's size could not remain alive. (R. 1341 and 1343.) The flow rates recorded were stated by Dr. Parrish and Dr. Bailey to be in error. (R. 988-89, 1343.) The pump technician did not attempt to calibrate the pump machine, but, rather, relied on the calibration made years before by a former technician who calibrated the pump using a different sized tubing. (R. 1045-1048.)

Thus, the technician and the surgeon could not and did not know the rate of blood flow into the patient during surgery.

3. Assess and maintain a minimum flow rate of blood through the body from the heart-lung pump machine. The minimum blood flow necessary to prevent brain and tissue injury was high when the body temperature was high and was lower when the temperature of the brain and tissues were lower. (R. 1345-1347.)



Dr. Parrish reduced the blood flow before the brain temperature was cooled down to where it could survive on such flow (R. 1348), and warmed up the body before increasing the blood perfusion flow. (R. 1346.)

4. Assess the blood flow by direct measurement rather than by relying on blood pressure, which was not proportional to flow. (R. 1350-1351, 1354.)

Dr. Parrish and his technician relied on replacement of the blood which came out of the patient's body and on the patient's blood pressure to determine adequacy of flow. If the blood pooled in the patient's veins, or if the blood was lost through the hemorrhage which is part of surgery, then there would be reduced venous return and reduced perfusion flow. (R. 1351-1354.)

At the same time, the blood pressure may be up when blood perfusion flow (to the brain and organs) is down. (R. 1350-1351.) So, direct measurement of flow is necessary to prevent brain damage.

5. Measure the body temperature at a point which would reflect the brain temperature rather than the temperature of the inflow of cooling blood which was used to cool the body.

Dr. Parrish placed a thermometer in the esophagus next to the inflow of blood from the heart-lung pump. He should have used a rectal thermometer which more accurately reflects how much the body has been cooled. (R. 1343-1344.)

This is important where the surgeon artificially stops the patient's beating heart before the brain temperature has been reduced to a safe level. The heart-lung pump flow was so much lower than the normal flow put out by the heart that the brain would be endangered if the brain temperature were too high. (R. 1344-1347.)

Since Dr. Parrish's pump technician had been erroneously recording flow rates for several years, plaintiff proffered the testimony of Mr. Chen-

Dyson, a pump technician from San Diego and Los Angeles, who, as noted above, was well-qualified and who established a foundation that there was a national certifying organization of pump technicians known as the American Society of Extracorporeal Technicians. Mr. Dyson had attended numerous conferences and seminars for pump technicians and thoracic surgeons and had impressive credentials to establish the foundation that he was familiar with the practice of other pump technicians and that the field was not practiced by rugged individualists. The court sustained objections to his testimony based on lack of foundation where plaintiff's counsel could not qualify Mr. Dyson as an expert witness as to the standard of care expected of pump technicians in the same locality, that is, Salt Lake City.

The court did not allow the testimony of Charles Dyson, pump technician from San Diego and Los Angeles who had run some 1,500 pump runs (R. 1081), trained other pump technicians in both San Diego and Los Angeles, taught Cardiac Pulmonary Physiology at the college level (R. 1070), was certified by the American Society of Extracorporeal Technicians since 1970 (a society that meets regularly and publishes guidelines for standards of practice in the field of open-heart surgery). (R. 1064-67.) This national accrediting organization holds regional professional meetings and conferences just like physicians do. (R. 1068-70.)

Mr. Dyson had read numerous texts and medical periodicals concerning perfusion, attended numerous conferences and seminars for pump technicians and thoracic surgeons, was familiar with the Sarns heart-lung pump of the type used on the appellant (R. 1075-78), and had numerous other qualifications to testify as to the standards of a similar locality. (R. 1062-78, 1108-1113.) He was of the opinion that there was a minimum standard of practice among pump

Sponsored by the National Endowment for the Humanities, Office of Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

technicians throughout the country. (R. 1109.) But the trial court sustained an objection based on lack of foundation where plaintiff's counsel could not qualify his expert witness as to the standard of care in the same locality. (R. 1113.)

Before this, plaintiff presented evidence that Dr. Parrish and the other physicians who were practicing heart-lung by-pass surgery in Salt Lake City in 1972 were not trained in Salt Lake City for the performance of their surgery in general. Dr. Parrish admitted that the physicians were trained literally all over the country, and testified very clearly in the record that the standards of practice were based upon medical knowledge and experience from all over the country. (R. 1094-1103.)

Mr. Dyson was not permitted to testify as to the standards expected of a pump technician concerning the frequency of calibration of the heart-lung pump to determine what the actual flow rate was (R. 1119-20), as to what the flow rate would be on the machine if the machine had been calibrated to flow 1,100 cc's per minute with quarter-inch tubing and then the tubing was changed to 3/8-inch tubing, as occurred here (R. 1126), as to whether or not the esophageal temperature probe used in Mr. Jenkin's case accurately reflected the temperature of the body (R. 1139-41), and finally, the witness was not permitted to testify as to whether there was a minimum standard of practice among such pump technicians with regard to monitoring of blood pressure. (R. 1175-78.) This latter objection was sustained because of the framing of the question in terms of an area similar to Salt Lake City, rather than in Salt Lake City.

On the second day of trial, prior to asking plaintiff's expert witnesses concerning the standard of care, plaintiff's counsel had submitted

a detailed twelve-page brief (R. 113) which clearly sets forth the apparent law within the state of Utah in support of the Similar Locality rule. Counsel for the defendant doctor submitted no memorandum concerning the standard of care. Despite plaintiff's efforts in submitting the brief and advising the court of the apparent adoption of the similar locality rule, the trial court failed and refused to rule as to which of the two rules apparently applied (R. 1174), but, apparently, refused to allow evidence as to the standard of care in a similar locality, and rather pointedly enforced the strict locality rules.

The court required the appellant to show that his expert witnesses had experience and were familiar with the same local standard of care that existed in the Salt Lake City area (R. 1339) which standard, according to the respondent's expert medical witnesses (R. 1679-80, 1741-1746), required far fewer precautions, suggesting a lower standard of care than that enunciated by the appellant's expert medical witnesses, Dr. Charles Bailey, the cardiovascular surgeon from New York City, New York, and Charles Dyson, the pump technician from Los Angeles, California. Although Dr. Bailey did qualify and did give testimony under the strict locality rule (R. 1317-1318, 1340), since it was obvious that Dr. Bailey was not as familiar with the practice in Salt Lake City as the respondent's witnesses, who were actually practicing in Salt Lake City, the jury, in all probability dismissed Dr. Bailey's testimony regarding practice in Salt Lake City as less authoritative.

During the course of the trial, the court allowed a surprise witness, Dr. Russell Nelson, to testify, although his name had not been previously disclosed, as required at a prior pre-trial hearing held September 12, 1977, and also at empaneling of the jury at the commencement of the trial.

During the cross-examination of defense witnesses, Dr. Nelson and Dr. Hughes by plaintiff's counsel, the court refused to allow the plaintiff's counsel to cross-examine them as to whether their own procedures for operation of the heart-lung pump were the same as those of Dr. Parrish (R. 1716-17, 1747) and refused testimony concerning how the other heart surgeons operated their pumps.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS A JUROR FOR CAUSE AND THEREBY FORCED THE PLAINTIFF TO WASTE ONE OF HIS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

A. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the prospective juror, Mrs. Eddins, for cause.

Rule 47(f)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, prescribes a challenge for cause upon the grounds, "That a state of mind exists on the part of the juror with reference to the cause, or to either party, which will prevent him from acting impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." During the course of the voir dire of the jury panel, a prospective juror, Judith T. Eddins, revealed personal relationships which would tend to make it difficult, if not impossible, for her to be impartial in this type of lawsuit. Her father was a medical doctor and, in addition, she had been married to a veterinarian who had been a defendant in a malpractice case. (T. 684). Mrs. Eddins was also a personal acquaintance of one of the defendant's expert witnesses, Dr. Robert Wray. (T. 678). When asked whether she could, in spite of these relationships, act impartially as a juror, she stated that she could not. (T. 700). The state of mind evidenced by Mrs. Eddins clearly comes within the provisions of Rule 47(f)(6), URCP, and she should have been dismissed for cause. The trial court erred in failing to do so.

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