1979

Ivan Jenkins v. Holy Cross Hospital of Salt Lake City, Charles M. Parrish, F. Clyde Null, Robert M. Stovall, A. Thompson, Xyz Manufacturing Company and Abc Distributing Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

814 (Utah 1978) where the majority held that the local community

standard should be changed to encompass a "similar" community standard with regard to expert testimony.

It is manifestly unfair to hold that a trial court has erred in its rulings concerning a standard which was in existence at the time of the trial because of a subsequent change in the standard by a higher court. The decision in Swan is unclear as to whether the new standard is applicable to actions arising prior to the decision. Respondent respectfully submits that Swan should be given only prospective effect and should not apply to causes of action or, at the very minimum, to trials which occurred prior to the rendering of the decision.

This Court in numerous decisions has constantly held that rights, duties, and privileges should generally be changed only by the legislature or in rare instances by this Court; but that in every case fair notice must be given to those who relied upon previous law. Rubalcava v. Gissmann, 384 P.2d 389 (Utah 1963); Williams v. Utah State Department of Finance, 464 P.2d 596 (Utah 1970); State Farm Mutual Insurance Co. v. Farmer's Insurance Exchange, 493 P.2d 1002 (Utah 1972); Brunyer v. Salt Lake County, 551 P.2d 521 (Utah 1976); Stanton v. Stanton, 564 P.2d 303 (1977); State v. Kelbach, 565 P.2d 700 (1977).

Thus, any application of the strict locality rule by the trial court was not error since it conformed with the law existing at the time of trial and the time the claim arose. Plaintiff's claim at this time is therefore without merit.

Even assuming, arguendo, that the "similar community" standard should have been applied by the trial court, the plaintiff failed to establish that either Los Angeles, California, the city in which Mr. Dyson the pump technician practiced, or Belmar, New Jersey, the city in which Dr. Bailey, the cardiovascular surgeon practiced, were "similar" to Salt Lake City.

The Swan decision contains five separate opinions of the Justices of this Court. Justice Crockett in a special concurring opinion stated the requirement of foundation as to a "similarity" in communities: Justice Crockett stated:

[I]t is also appreciated that in other specialized aspects of the practice of medicine, there are in fact different standards in different localities. In larger metropolitan areas where there are educational institutions, hospitals and clinics, so that there are available more advanced facilities and equipment, and higher degrees of specialization in particular fields, and higher earnings for practitioners, there are undoubtedly higher standards than in less favored areas. When this fact situation has a bearing on the problem involved, that is an important factor to be taken into account. 584 P.2d at 819.

Justice Wilkins, in a concurring opinion, quoted an authority which also outlined the rule for foundational requirement. This rule states the following:

[I]n determining similarity the courts will not now look to such socio-economic facts as population, type of economy, and income level but to factors more directly relating to the practice of medicine. In the main, an expert practicing in a locality having medical fa-

cilities comparable to those existing in the defendant's community is permitted to testify concerning the standard of care governing the defendant. The number and quality of hospitals, laboratories and medical schools are typical considerations. 584 P.2d 820.

The record is void of any comparisons between Salt Lake City's facilities, medical school, etc. with those of Los Angeles, California and Belmar, New Jersey. Thus, even assuming arguendo that the similar community standard should have been applied by the trial court, even though it was not the applicable law at the time of trial, the plaintiff still failed to establish a proper foundation and any objections were rightfully sustained.

In addition, unlike the Swan case, the plaintiff here made no proffer of proof as to what the witnesses would have said had the objections not been sustained. Such proffer is necessary if omission in testimony is claimed as error. Sun Cab Company v. Walston, 289 A.2d 804 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1972).

B. The Testimony of Mr. Charles Dyson and Dr. Charles Bailey Amply Covered the Alleged Negligence and Failure to Meet Standards of the Defendant and Therefore any Exclusion of Testimony was Harmless Error.

Plaintiff makes the following statement in his brief:

Had the plaintiff's witness (Mr. Charles Dyson) been allowed to testify as to the standard of care in locales similar to Salt Lake City, Utah, he would have given testimony that would have shown that the defendant doctor's care of the plaintiff fell far below the existing and recognized standard of care in similar localities with respect to operation of the heart-lung bypass pump machine. By refusing to allow such testimony, the plaintiff was prevented from presenting to the jury the very heart of his case. (Appellant's brief, p. 25).

An examination of the record, however, shows that Mr. Dyson repeatedly gave his opinion as to a breach of standard committed by the defendant.

Mr. Dyson stated that in his opinion there was a standard of practice among perfusion technicians throughout the country in February of 1972. (Tr., p. 1109). He testified that if the pump head was not adjusted for occlusion each time the tubing was changed that this would be a departure from the standard of practice of a capable, competent pump technician in accordance with minimum standards in 1972. (Tr., p. 1116). He claimed that a capable, competent pump technician of 1972 should have understood the physiology of flow rates and should have known that the recorded flow rate of 1,100 cc's (as recorded by Defendant's pump technician during Plaintiff's operation) was completely erroneous. He also said that a capable, competent pump technician in 1972 should have been aware of certain laws of physiology as to minimum flow rate at various body temperatures. (Tr., p. 1127).

In addition to these statements Mr. Dyson was also questioned by Plaintiff's attorney as to the following opinions:

Q Do you have an opinion as to what the minimum standard of practice required with regard to observing and recording flow rates under these circumstances, sir?

A The flow rates should have been observed and recorded by the technician.

Q Can you explain why in your opinion the flow rates should be observed and recorded during the course of the pump run?

A I just don't know how you can tell what you're doing if you don't know what you're flowing. Obviously, in a state of no flow, that's what we call death. Now, you come above no flow and you get in a range that may support life and may not support life. Now, how do you know that the patient was getting an adequate amount of arterialized blood unless you record it? Or, how can you ever say the patient was getting an adequate amount of arterialized blood? (Tr., p. 1180).

The witness also related that the minimum standard of technicians in 1972 required that the temperature be recorded every 10 minutes and that the standard required that the blood pressure be recorded every 10 to 15 minutes. (Tr., p. 1181).

Mr. Dyson stated that the average surgical team would use a higher flow rate than that which was used by Defendant upon the plaintiff. (Tr., p. 1182). He testified that the flow rate which was used on the plaintiff was the very lowest minimum standard and that at such a rate a blood gas sample should have been obtained to determine if sufficient oxygen was going into the blood. (Tr., p. 1182).

The preceding review amply illustrates that while the court sustained objections as to certain questions asked by Plaintiff, numerous opinions of the witness were introduced before the jury in terms of a "minimum" standard of pump technicians in 1972.

(Tr., p. 1109).

There is no doubt, moreover, that the testimony of Dr. Charles P. Bailey, Plaintiff's expert cardiovascular surgeon, was superior and repetitious to the testimony of Mr. Dyson who was merely a pump technician. Plaintiff himself admits that Dr. Bailey was allowed to testify as to the standard of care practiced in Salt Lake City. (Appellant's brief, p. 26).

The omission, therefore, of any of Mr. Dyson's testimony, even assuming that such omission was erroneous, is not reversible error. "Error may not be predicated upon the exclusion of evidence which is merely cumulative and does not add materially to the weight or clarity of that already received."

Friesen v. Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railroad, 524 P.2d 1141, 1149 (Kan. 1974). See also, Watkins v. Utah Poultry and Farmers Cooperative, 251 P.2d 663 (Utah 1952).

Dr. Bailey was given a hypothetical question based upon the facts developed in the previous testimony and asked whether or not the care given to Plaintiff in February of 1972 "was in accordance with the standard of care, diligence and caution that would be expected as a minimum standard of a capable, competent, thoracic surgeon practicing in the locality of Salt Lake City, Utah." The doctor replied: "My opinion is that it was not up to the minimum acceptable standard of care. And if you would like, I will point out the way in which I think it wasn't satisfactory." (Tr., p. 1340). Dr. Bailey then proceeded to

describe in detail the reasons for this opinion including: inadequate blood flow rate (Tr., p. 1341-1342); the failure to use a rectal thermometer (Tr., p. 1344); the failure to use an adequate flow rate based upon a correct temperature (Tr., pp. 1345-1346); the allowance of the blood pressure to drop below 50 mm's of mercury (Tr., p. 1348); and the negligence of Defendant in relying upon blood pressure alone to monitor the operation (Tr., pp. 1350-1351).

Finally, Plaintiff's counsel asked this question of Dr. Bailey concerning the "pump perfusion team":

Q Do you have an opinion as to whether the standard of practice of a pump perfusion team under the circumstances as we've described in February of 1972 required that the pump technician be aware of what the flow rates or the blood pressure is of the patient during the course of a pump run such as this?

* * *

A At that time in medical history, as at the present time, the vast, the accumulated opinion of doctors doing this kind of work is that you must know what your perfusion rate is, and that you will maintain it at an adequate level. (Tr., p. 1354).

An accurate summary of Dr. Bailey's testimony is also found in Appellant's Statement of Facts. (Appellant's brief, pp. 7-8).

The most that Appellant can say regarding the testimony of Dr. Bailey is that "in all likelihood" the jurors viewed the testimony as less authoritative than the Salt Lake City based

expert witnesses called by Defendant. (Appellant's brief, p. 26). Such a claim goes to the weight of testimony, is mere speculation, and does not constitute a sufficient ground for error.

For these reasons, the trial court was correct in its rulings as to the testimony of Plaintiff's expert witnesses.

POINT III

THE PROCEDURE UTILIZED IN FORMULATING AND OBJECTING TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS WAS NOT ERRONEOUS.

There is no showing in the record that Plaintiff's attorneys were not given ample opportunity to object to the giving and refusal to give jury instructions. In addition, the legal authorities cited by Plaintiff in his brief are not on point since they do not deal with the specific question raised by the appellant. (Appellant's brief, pp. 28-33).

Rule 46 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that formal exceptions to rulings or orders of the court are unnecessary and that it is sufficient that a party, at the time the ruling or order of the court is made or sought, "make known to the court the action which he desires the court to take."

Rule 51 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the court shall inform counsel of its proposed action with regard to jury instruction requests prior to instructing the jury; and it shall furnish counsel with a copy of its proposed instructions. All objections must be made before the instructions are given to the jury or before the jury retires to consider its

verdict.

Plaintiff's counsel during the argument for new trial and judgment n.o.v. admitted that a conference had been held prior to the formal exceptions to the instructions before the court reporter. (Motion transcribed separately numbered Tr., pp. 546-582; 562-563). Upon being asked by the court whether Plaintiff's counsel had an opportunity to consult with the court prior to the time the exceptions were taken, Mr. Fairbourn replied:

Part of them, not all of the instructions. They were rather numerous instructions and in this particular case the court indicated to us that he had gone over the instructions and we were given a copy of the court's proposed instructions and we went over these with the court. (Tr., p. 563).

This event was apparently unreported since there is no transcription of these conversations. Mr. Slagle, counsel for Defendant, stated the following concerning his recollection of the exceptions:

It's my recollection and I think Mr. Fairbourn will bear this out, that we did not take a lunch break that day but rather had lunch in the courtroom. That when you came back, which was sometime before 12:50 we sat in the jury room in here for approximately an hour, assembled jury instructions, went through them with you and put them together. You marked all of our jury instructions as to whether they were given, not given, or given in substance. You then asked both of us whether or not, after we had gone through them with you, whether we had any serious objections that we needed to take at that time.

Now whether or not there was a court reporter, whether Mr. Midgley was in the jury room at that time I don't recall. At which time we both said Okay we told you what our serious objections were and you then said, "You can take your formal exceptions while I get a couple of these changes typed." (Tr., p. 578).

Thus, the record fails to show that the objections of the Plaintiff with reference to jury instructions were not "made known to the court." Rule 46, U.R.C.P.

In addition, the trial court was concerned at the Motion for a New Trial hearing that the plaintiff's counsel had not informed the court that his absence from the formal exceptions would be claimed as error. (Tr., p. 566).

As stated by the court: "I don't have any independent recollection of either you or Mr. Dixon shaking, rattling and rolling me and saying if you don't do this, Judge, you're committing error. Now maybe you did but it sure did not register." (Tr., p. 566).

The court in a further comment stated to Plaintiff's counsel:

[T]he thing I'm concerned with is whether or not, in connection with the instructions, if you saw that I was committing an error, and it's obvious that you're relying upon an error that you claim that I committed, whether or not the record reflects that you endeavored to have me correct that error before I continued on down the merry path that causes the problem. Now if the record so reflects that's fine. If it doesn't it would be a concern to me that where I have been led into an error by my own doing I

think there's a responsibility before counsel to so advise the court that he's committing an error and get it corrected. (Tr., p. 568).

The record shows no objection to the court's absence from the formal exceptions.

Plaintiff's counsel admitted that "part" of the instructions had been discussed with the court prior to the time of the formal exceptions. (Tr., p. 563). There is also no showing in the record as to which specific instructions were or were not discussed. Unless it can be shown that counsel was given no opportunity to discuss a particular instruction which is claimed to have been erroneous, any failure to provide such opportunity is harmless error. Pagan v. Thrift City Inc., 460 P.2d 832 (Utah 1969).

The Rules of Civil Procedure, both federal and state, do not require that a formal, on-the-record discussion be held concerning jury instructions. The purpose of the rules is to provide the court and counsel with an opportunity to discuss and criticize the instructions prior to submission to the jury.

In the instant case, it is clear that such an opportunity was present and there is nothing in the record showing that the trial court "refused to listen to counsel's objections." (Appellant's brief, p. 30). On the contrary, it appears from the discussion of the court and counsel during the motion for new trial that a conference was held discussing the instructions and

that the trial court was not physically present during the taking of the formal exceptions because such matters had previously been discussed.

If Plaintiff's counsel was unhappy with this procedure, a formal objection should have been lodged into the record stating which instructions had not been discussed with the trial court. This was not done and therefore Plaintiff has waived any claimed error.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WITH RESPECT TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

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